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Photo: A group of Diggers from Tumut, NSW, photographed in camp in France, 1917. Courtesy of Paula Cavanough, 

who writes: ñMy grandfather, Bill Sturt, standing at the back with his hand on Gus Keownôs shoulder. 520 Percy 

McAlister is on the right of Gus Keown. Frank Henery and 506 Walter Malone at on the left end of the middle row and 

Fred Malone and Tom Malone on the left end of the front row.ò See also page 2 and page 20 for details of these men. 
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Trench talk 

Graeme Hosken. 

 
This issue 
DIGGER 52 fittingly carries a number of articles relating to Gallipoli. Several are letters from men who 

fought at Lone Pine, while two members who travelled to Gallipoli 100 years later describe their pilgrimage. 

Geoff Lewis concludes his series on ANZAC VCs awarded on the Peninsula while writing about tunnelling 

at Gallipoli in another article. This issue also carried stories on the Western Front, including a nurse 

describing her travels through the shattered countryside soon after the Armistice. Norah Mines writes about 

the groundbreaking work of a plastic surgeon to restore a Diggerôs face after horrific wounds. With a number 

of profiles, poems, diary extracts and some great photographs, this issue is sure to inform and please.    

2015 Annual General Meeting 
The Singleton Infantry  Museum (Hunter Valley, NSW) has been chosen as the venue for this yearôs AGM. 

The AGM will be held between 2.00 and 4.00 pm on Saturday, 24 October, in the museumôs theatre. It is 

suggested that members and guests arrive around 11.30 am, tour the infantry museum and have lunch in the 

kiosk (own expense) before attending the AGM. A dinner will be held that evening. Further details of 

location, accommodation and costs are included in the AGM booklet sent with this issue. Please note the 

RSVP date which is 10 October , to allow for sufficient catering and seating to be organised by the museum 

staff. The venue is one of the best military museums in Australia and well worth the effort to travel to. 

Members are encouraged to attend the AGM to support the association and meet up with other members.  

Photos of Tumut soldiers 
The cover photo and the one on page 20 were posted on Facebook by Paula Cavanough, who kindly allowed 

their use in DIGGER. One of the soldiers in both photos is Gus Keown [Cpl 486 Augustus John Keown, 

36
th
 Bn]. Publication of the photos on FB elicited this comment from Robyn Hogan: ñGus Keown was my 

uncle. He was wounded in France (Oct. 1917), lost both his legs along with other wounds. Survived and 

went on to operate a tobacco kiosk in Martin Place, Sydney. The people of Tumut purpose-built a house for 

him to live in upon his return. Itôs still standing today on corner of Fitzroy and Herbert Streets [below]. He 

died in 1973.ò Do any of our (ahem) more mature members remember Gusô kiosk in Martin Place? 
 

Left : The house the Tumut community built for Gus 

Keown. Source: maps.google.com.au. 
 

Introducing COBBeR 
From time to time, the Editor has a backlog of articles 

that donôt suit inclusion in DIGGER. For example, 

they may be too long or contain many colour images. 

The committee has agreed to the suggestion that such 

articles and images be placed into an electronic 

magazine to be called COBBeR. There will be no 

expense to the association for printing and posting COBBeR, as it will be e-mailed to all members who have 

supplied us with a current e-mail address. COBBeR will not be issued to a set timetable but will be e-mailed 

when sufficient material has become available. Think of it as a bonus for belonging to the FFFAIF. If you do 

not have an e-mail address, you will miss out on reading COBBeR. Time to get technological! 
 

Copyright © DIGGER 2015. All material in DIGGER is copyright. [Note: Opinions expressed by authors in this magazine are not necessarily those of the FFFAIF.] 

Subject to the fair dealing provisions of the Copyright Act 1968, reproduction in any form is not permitted without written permission of the Editor or Author/s. DIGGER 

is published four times per year and is available to members only. Images from the AWM are downloaded with kind permission of the eSales unit. Contributions of 

possible articles and illustrative material for DIGGER and any feedback should be sent to Graeme Hosken, Editor of DIGGER, 2 Colony Crescent, Dubbo NSW 2830 

or e-mailed to ghoskenaif@bigpond.com. Membership inquiries should be forwarded to Membership Secretary FFFAIF Inc, PO Box 4208, Oatley West NSW 2223 

(Australia) or e-mail to membership@fffaif.org.au. Standard membership is $50 pa and concessional membership (students, under 18s, seniors) is $40 pa. Family 

membership is $50 for the first member, then $30 for each additional member residing at the same address. Only one copy of DIGGER is included with each Family 

Membership. Gift and two or three year memberships are available. A membership form can be downloaded from our website: www.fffaif.org.au. Telephone inquiries 

can be made to 0401 467 819. Please leave a message if not answered and a committee member will return your call. 
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Was Gallipoliôs first Military Medal awarded to 
Edward Arthur Roberts, 2

nd
 Battalion? 

Patric Millar, Glen Innes. 

 

ho remembers the óFishermanôs Hut,ô and the boat load of wounded Victorians? What 

courage, will-power, or sense of duty ï call it what you will ï inspired Stretcher-bearers 

Carpenter and Roberts to go out and bring them in. This was an epic, grandstand affair, with 

hundreds of men looking on and marvelling.ò This is an extract from óControl Over Fear: The Secret of 

Leadershipô published in the 1 April, 1936, Edition of óReveilleô magazine written by Captain Ken Millar 

MC , 2
nd

 Battalion.   

 The óReveilleô article briefly touched on the heroic deeds of Privates Edward Arthur Roberts MM  

and Stanley Franzien Carpenter DCM of the 2
nd

 Battalion in rescuing wounded men from a boat off 

Fishermanôs Hut. Private Carpenterôs story was told by Harry Willey on pages 43 to 46 in DIGGER 32. 

Private Stanley Carpenterôs actions saw him recommended for what was probably the first Distinguished 

Conduct Medal of the Gallipoli campaign. Similarly, Private Edward Robertsô actions that day saw him 

recommended for what was probably the first Military Medal of the Gallipoli campaign.  

 What is untold in the article is the fact that it took almost two years before Edward Roberts had his 

Military Medal conferred and another two before he received it. 

 Edward Arthur Roberts  (known as óTedô) was born in 25 April, 1893, in the town 

of Parkstons in County Dover, England. He immigrated to Australia with his mother and 

father and younger brother James, leaving London on 14 September, 1910, aboard the SS 

Orsova. They arrived in Brisbane on 31 October, 1910, having stopped in Sydney on the 

way.  
 A sugar worker living in Kogarah prior to the war, Ted Roberts [right ] enlisted on 

25 November 1914 in Liverpool. He was assigned to the 2
nd

 Reinforcements to the 2
nd

 

Battalion. The second reinforcements left Sydney on 11 February, 1915, aboard the HMAT 

A48 Seang Bee. 

 They arrived in Egypt around 22 March, 1915, and shortly after they joined the main body of the 2
nd

 

Battalion, who were camped at Mena at the time. The 2
nd

 Battalion left Mena on the 3
rd
 and 4

th
 April and 

entrained for Alexandria. On 5 April they boarded the Derfflinger and left Alexandria bound for Lemnos. 

 Ted Roberts landed with the rest of the 2
nd

 Battalion around 9 am on 25 April and was immediately 

in the thick of the action. His role as a stretcher-bearer was pivotal in bringing wounded men from the front 

line back to the beach so that they could be treated and/or evacuated. 

 It was on 26 April that Ted Roberts and Stanley Carpenter came into their own at Fishermanôs Hut. 

A boat was had been spotted near Fishermanôs Hut containing what was believed to be 30 dead soldiers and 

a sailor. 

 In Volume I (p332) of the óOfficial Historyô, CEW Bean recorded the events as: 

The remaining survivors appear to have been rescued by stretcher-bearers of the 2
nd

 Battalion. 

From his position on Walkerôs Ridge, Lieutenant Westbrook of this battalion had noticed, like Ross, 

some movement of one of the figures lying before Fishermanôs Hut. He asked two stretcher-bearers 

of his battalion, by name Carpenter and Roberts, if they would try to bring this man in. The two men 

went at once, taking their stretcher. As they neared the boats, fire was opened upon them. They 

found several of the men still alive, and made the journey four times, each time bringing in a 

wounded man. Some New Zealanders then went out with an improvised stretcher and picked up a 

fifth, but the task of carrying him on the makeshift bed was almost impossible. The two Australians 

with their stretcher therefore went out again and helped them to finish the journey. So far as is 

known, the last of the wounded from the boats were removed on Monday evening after dark. It is 

said that nine were saved who had lain there since the dawn of Sunday. 

 

Taylor and Cusack in óNulli Secundus: A History of the Second Battalionô (p92-3) provide a slightly 

different description of how the events unfolded:  

Lance Corporal Noel Ross (editors note: CEW Bean states that he was the son of the official War 

Correspondent for New Zealand so his version of events was accurate), was looking at the beach 

through a powerful telescope from Walkerôs Ridge and noticed a deserted boat in which he counted 

about 30 Australians and a sailor in a life-like attitude é He thought no more of it until the 

following day about 3 pm when he saw that the sailor had changed his position.  

ñW 

http://www.wikitree.com/wiki/Roberts-7422
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Captain Westbrook (of óBô Company) had also had observed the boat and pointed it out to 

Carpenter and Roberts who hurried down to the beach é Taking a stretcher Carpenter and Roberts 

set out for the boat, and subsequent events are best described in the recommendations forwarded to 

1
st
 Brigade in July by Lieutenant Colonel Ernest S Brown ï then commanding the Second ï and 

Lieutenant EE Herrod. 

 

Right: The approximate position of Fishermanôs Hut is 

arrowed. Three boats containing 7
th
 Bn men came ashore 

directly in front of the hut. AWM J00157.  

 

The question is: why werenôt these men recognised for their 

bravery at the time? There are several potential reasons for 

this. The first reason was the chaos that surrounded the 

Landing. The 2
nd

 Battalion diary was not updated between 

17 April and 1 May, 1915. When it was, the battalion had 

lost approximately 60% of its original landing force.  
 The first official efforts to recognise the efforts of 

Roberts and Carpenter are the two letters below from 

Lieutenant Colonel Brown and Lieutenant Herrod which 

would later form the basis for a Mention in Despatches. 

Unfortunately, due to the timing of their submission they 

appear to have not been acted upon immediately. 

Anzac, July 19, 1915 

To the Commanding Officer 

1
st
 Infantry Brigade 

On April 26
th
, the day after the first landing, an act 

which is worthy of recognition has today been 

brought to my notice. The reason for the delay has 

been because the principle witness, Col. Peerless, 

RMO of the Canterbury Regiment was not able, I 

understand, to furnish the names of the two Second 

Battalion, who, it will be seen by the following statement, volunteered at a very great risk and 

succeeded in bringing four wounded men from the 3
rd

 Brigade who had been lying on the Beach near 

a small boat in which they had drifted from the intended landing place. 

This boat had come under very heavy machine-gun fire and shrapnel fire on the first landing. The 

occupants were all killed or wounded, and the wounded had remained 30 hours on the Beach. The 

beach was under fire and stretcher-bearers were continuously under fire while rescuing men and 

had frequently to take cover. An account of this act, I am told, appears in Captain Beanôs official 

account of the Landing, but it is therein stated that the stretcher-bearers were shot. 

Attached please find statements from Col. Peerless and Lieut Herrod, No 1415 Pte EA Roberts and 

607 Pte Carpenter, who were the two men recommended. 

Signed Ernest S Brown, Lt Col. 

Commanding 2
nd

 Battalionò 

 

There is no copy of Colonel Peerlessô report in óNulli Secundusô, nor at the AWM or NAA. There is, though, 

a copy of the letter of endorsement which Lieutenant Herrod wrote: 

I saw these two men go out to the shipôs boat three of four times in succession and bring in wounded 

men who had been there since the landing the previous day. For fully 75 yards both going and 

coming back the two men were under fire and were also being fired on while putting the men on the 

stretchers. The late Lieut Col GF Braund, who was in command of Second Battalion, also saw these 

men and instructed me to find out their names, presumably with the object of recommending them for 

their action. Lieut Col Braund noted it, and I have no further knowledge of what action was taken by 

him. 

As can be seen from Lieutenant Colonel Brownôs letter (dated 19 July, 1915), there was a considerable delay 

in the actual events and the official reporting of them. Another problem was that Brown had Edward 

Robertsôs service number wrong: he had it as 1415 when, in fact, it was 1413.  



DIGGER 5 Issue 52 

 In his DIGGER 32 article about Private Carpenter, Harry Willey makes the observation that: this 

heroic act was observed by many, including Lt-Col Braund and Lieutenant Ernest Edward Herrod. Other 

witnesses to the bravery of these men were Colonel Peerless, PMC of the New Zealand Canterbury Infantry 

Regiment, and Captain Charles Bean, Australiaôs Official War Correspondent on Gallipoli. By the time 

Lieutenant Colonel Brown writes his letter, Lieutenant Colonel Braund had been accidentally shot and killed 

by a sentry, on 4 May. 

 From looking at the records of citations and recommendations held by the Australian War Memorial, 

it appears that the first official mention of the deeds of Edward Roberts and Stanley Carpenter occurs on 30 

April, 1915, but there is no official record. 

 It is said that the army moves in slow and mysterious ways sometimes. This was the case for Ted 

Roberts. The first mention of Edwardôs and Carpenterôs deeds is a hand written Dispatch, No 14. It simply 

says: 

Dated at Anzac 3 August 1915, sent to GHQ, initialled  

1. Pt Roberts 2
 
Bn AIF, 2. Pt Carpenter do.  

 

This is accompanied with an undated typed letter signed HB Walker, Brigadier General, which stated: 

The attached letter from the Officer commanding the 2
nd

 Battalion is forwarded for information and 

I strongly recommend that the names of: 

No.  1415 Pte E.H. Roberts  2
nd

 Bn 

 607  ά S. Carpenter  2
nd

 Bn 

Be published in orders in recognition of their conduct on the occasion referred to, though owing to 

the circumstances the report is so belated.  

 

The letters referred by to Brigadier General Walker are those by Ernest S Brown, Lieutenant Colonel, 

Commanding 2
nd

 Battalion, and Lieutenant Herrod, which are detailed above.  

 This formed the basis for the Mention in Despatches that appears in the óLondon Gazetteô, 5 

November ,1915, page 11002, position 42.  

 Moving forward through the records to 8 December, 1915, there appears a type-written form signed 

by Brigadier General HG Chauvel, Commander 1
st
 Division, recommending Distinguished Conduct Medals 

be awarded to Roberts and Carpenter: 

These two stretcher-bearers on the 26
th
 April went along the beach under heavy fire to rescue 

wounded men of other units who had been lying in a stranded boat near the óFishermanôs Hutô for 

over 30 hours. All the occupants of the boat had been killed or wounded by machine-gun or shrapnel 

fire. These stretcher-bearers rescued four wounded men although under heavy fire while going to the 

boat, taking the wounded out and returning. 

 

Unfortunately, this document had Ted Roberts as Edward Albert Roberts, service number 1615.  His service 

record shows the following entry for 6 February, 1916: 

Special mention for acts of conspicuous gallantry or valuable services during the period April 20
th
 to 

September 22
nd

 1915. 

 

Following this addendum to his service record, and despite the recommendation from Brigadier General HG 

Chauvel for a Distinguished Conduct Medal, nothing happened. So on 5 June, 1916, Lieutenant Colonel AB 

Stevens, commander of the 2
nd

 Battalion, wrote another handwritten recommendation for Edward Roberts 

and Stanley Carpenter. By this time the battalion was in Sailly in France, and a few weeks later would face 

their first battle on the Western Front at Pozieres. His commendation clearly shows his frustration that their 

deeds had not been sufficiently recognised. In the óPreviously Recommendedô column he states: 

Yes, by Lt Col Braund (the late) about 30.4.1915, again on 17.7.1915 by the late Lt. Col E.S. Brown, 

and again on the 15.11.1915 by Lt. Col Cass CKG. Both Carpenter and Roberts were recommended 

for the D.C.M. in 1915/16. 

 

His hand-written recommendation reads: 

Carpenter was a stretcher-bearer, under heavy fire from the enemy he went along the beach and 

bought in wounded men who had been lying in an abandoned shipôs boat near Fishermanôs Hut. The 

landing of the four wounded men was difficult owing to the nature of their wounds he was under 

both rifle and machine-gun fire going both to and from the boat and whilst fixing men on the 

stretcher. Roberts assisted Carpenter as shown above. 
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 This might have been the catalyst that Ted Robertsô case required, as his Military Medal was 

reported in the. óLondon Gazetteô of 27 October, 1916, on page 10487, position 140. This, however, was not 

the end of Tedôs story regarding his Military Medal. At the time of the notification in the óLondon Gazetteô, 

he was already aboard the Karoola bound for Australia. 

 Ted returned to Australia and was medically discharged on 15 March, 1917, but he hadnôt received 

his Military Medal. He started inquiring about his MM on 23 March, 1917, presumably on the back of 

information received from old 2
nd

 Battalion mates. However, he didnôt receive official confirmation of his 

Military Medal until April 25, 1917. Although he was officially awarded the MM he didnôt physically 

receive it until at least 1918. His service record contains the following two entries:  

15/7/1917 Military Medal sent to 2
nd

 Bn Commander,  

1/2/1918 sent to AAG Md. 

 

It is unclear from his service record when he actually received the package containing his Military Medal.  

However, it does contain a letter dated 20 August, 1920, which contained his Oak Leaves, signifying that he 

was óMentioned in Despatchesô and instructions on how to attach them to his Victory Medal and Ribbon in 

1920.   

 From his service record it appears that Edward Roberts MM never received a copy of the citation 

that led to his awarding of the Military Medal. As late as 1956 he was writing to Base Records, seeking 

information about the citation, only to receive the following reply: 

Unfortunately records of the deeds for which were made are not available, but it would appear that 

both the Military Medal and the Mention in Despatches were made for acts of conspicuous gallantry 

or valuable services during the period 25
th
 April to 22

nd
 September 1915. 

 

The óCommonwealth Gazetteô, No. 176 of 1916, lists the first AIF recipients of the Military Medal with no 

mention of Edward Arthur Roberts. To my mind, the historical evidence, firsthand accounts and army 

records, firmly point to Edward Arthur Roberts as being the first or among the first to be awarded the 

Military Medal at Gallipoli. 

 Following his service on Gallipoli, Ted Roberts MM went on to serve on the Western Front and 

returned home in 1917. After the war he become a very strong veteransô advocate and served a term of 

President of the RSL ï all of which Iôll explore in another issue of DIGGER. 

_________________________________________________________________ 

 

Lance Corporal 582 Charles Grimson DCM, 1st LHR 
Extract from óMolong Timesô. 

 

he first Molong district soldier to achieve exceptional distinction is Lance 

Corporal C Grimson, late of Cumnock. He has been awarded a 

Distinguished Conduct Medal, and his bravery fully warrants it. 

 On the night of May 29 [1915], at Gaba Tepe, owing to the explosion of 

a mine, the enemy occupied portion of the trenches [near No. 3 Section, Quinnôs 

Post ï Ed], dividing the defenders. Corporal Grimson crawled along broken 

ground towards the enemy, capturing three Turks. He then entered the remaining 

portion of the captured trench and compelled twelve of the enemy to surrender, 

thus enabling the defenders to reunite. Truly a gallant piece of work! 

 Corporal Grimson is to be highly lauded and the district is to be 

congratulated upon having been represented at the front by such a hero.  

 Unfortunately, his military career was cut short by a wound in the foot in 

June [27 July], which incapacitated him for further service, and he was expected 

to return to Sydney at the end of this week. He was among the first to enlist, and 

was attached to the First Light Horse as a scout. His parents are Mr and Mrs 

Edmund Grimson, of Yullundry, and Messrs óNedô and Fred Grimson, of 

Cumnock, are brothers. These, together with a wife and young family (living 

near Sydney) have cause to be proud of being related to the districtôs first DCM 

hero. May he not be the last! 

Right: Lance Corporal Charles Grimson, 1
st
 Light Horse Regiment, being 

awarded the Distinguished Conduct Medal (DCM) by the Governor-General in 1915. AWM P09485.001.   

T 
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Private 3029 Frederick Graham, 48th Battalion AIF 
Andrew Pittaway, Fremantle. 

 
rederick Graham was born in Middlesborough, Yorkshire, England, in 1895 to Charles and Martha 

Graham. He was one of eight children; the others being William, Charlie, Olive, Bertha, Sydney, 

Doris and Irene. The family soon migrated to Australia and took up residence in WA, living at 

Bellevue Terrace, Fremantle. Frederick was working as a labourer prior to enlisting in the AIF. 

 Fred initially tried to enlist in July 1916 but was knocked back for unspecified reasons. He was more 

successful on his next attempt in September 1916, when he enlisted at the Fremantle Drill Hall. He was 

passed as fit by the medical officer, who found Fred to be: 5ô9İò tall; weighing 160 lbs; with chest 

measurements of 33-37ò; fresh complexion; blue eyes and fair hair. His religious denomination was Church 

of England.  

 After a short time in the training depot at Blackboy Hill 

Camp, Fred was allotted to the 6
th
 Reinforcements to the 44

th
 

Battalion, but in early November 1916 was transferred to the 7
th
 

Reinforcements to the 48
th
 Battalion with the regimental number 

3029. Fred [right ] only had a few days of training with this 

group in WA before their embarkation. 

 On 9 November, 1916, the 7
th
 Reinforcements boarded 

the HMAT Argyllshire in Fremantle Harbour and set sail for 

England. The long sea voyage took just on two months, as they 

arrived in Devonport, England, on 10 January, 1917. After being 

disembarked, Fred and his group were marched into the 12
th
 

Training Battalion at Codford Camp on the Salisbury Plain. He 

trained in England for two months, and on 13 March, 1917, he 

was put in a draft of men for France. 

 Fred arrived at Etaples, France, on 14 March and was 

marched into the 4
th
 Australian Division Base Depot. He spent 

just on four weeks at this depot, as on 11 April , 1917, he was 

sent to join his unit. Fred reached the 48
th
 Battalion 13 April and 

was taken on strength. The 48
th
 Battalion had just been through 

the disastrous First Battle of Bullecourt and was thus very low in 

numbers. Fredôs reinforcement group helped fill the many gaps 

in the ranks. 

 Fred served with the 48
th
 Battalion at the successful 

battle at Messines from June 7, 1917, onwards and came through 

unscathed. On 18 July, 1917, he was evacuated, ill , to the 13
th
 Field Ambulance, where his condition was 

labelled óNYDô (not yet determined/diagnosed). He was then transferred to the 2
nd

 Australian Casualty 

Clearing Station and by 19 July had reached the 3
rd
 Australian General Hospital at Abbeville.  

 Fred was diagnosed as suffering from óhaematuriaô and after recovering was sent to No. 6 

Convalescent Depot. On 9 August, 1917, he was transferred to No. 11 Convalescent Depot at Buchy, France. 

 On 21 August, Fred was well enough to be sent to the 4
th
 Australian Base Depot at Le Havre. He 

spent just over two weeks here and rejoined the 48
th
 Battalion on 8 September, 1917. 

 The Australian infantry were about to take part in the Third Battle of Ypres, and the 48
th
 Battalion 

was no exception. During the attack towards Passchendaele on 12 October, 1917, the 48
th
 Battalion suffered 

many casualties, including Fred Graham. Officially, his body was not found after the battle and he is 

commemorated on the Menin Gate Memorial in Ypres Belgium. 

*   *   *   *   *   *  
A look at Frederick Grahamôs service record provides the information that in 1925 the authorities unearthed 

a body of an Australian soldier at map reference, Sheet 28.d.21.d.1.6, which they reburied at Hagle Dump 

Cemetery.  

 When the remains were discovered they found a gold ring and equipment inscribed with the surname 

ñGraham AIFò. They wrote to Frederick Grahamôs parents to ask if he had a gold ring, to which his mother 

replied that he did have one, but she thought he had lost it before embarkation and was unaware if he found 

the previous ring or obtained a new one. 

F 
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 The war graves authorities also wrote to the relatives of the only other man in the AIF with that 

surname who óthe unknownô was a possibility of being: 3763 Pte WJ Graham of the 6
th
 Battalion AIF. WJ 

Graham was killed on 26 October, 1917, and had no known grave. His parents replied that he did have a 

large gold ring with the word ómitzpahô inscribed on it. From the records it appears that the family may have 

viewed the ring, as they said that it didnôt look like it was his. The matter of which Graham it was in Hagle 

Dump Cemetery then appears to have been dropped. 

 However, in November 1926 the authorities once again wrote to WJ Grahamôs relatives, to say that 

during exhumation work in the vicinity of Passchendaele, WJ Grahamôs body had been found and had been 

interred at Dochy Farm Cemetery.  

 With Private WJ Graham interred at Dochy Farm it appears that the case of the soldier with the 

surname óGrahamô interred at Hagle Dump had been inexplicably forgotten. With Private WJ Graham 

identified and buried at Dochy Farm Cemetery, Private Frederick Graham of the 48
th
 Battalion AIF appeared 

likely to be the soldier the authorities had found and buried at Hagle Dump Cemetery. 

 In a memoir written by 2759a J Williamson of the 48
th
 Battalion, there contains the information that 

as a member of a stretcher-bearing team after the 12 October assault had failed, Williamson had helped carry 

a 48
th
 Battalion soldier by surname of Graham to an advanced dressing station. With that dressing station 

overflowing with casualties, they made the decision to take their casualty further back near Zonnebeke, 

where they used the remaining sleepers on the railway line to help them find level footing. They left Graham 

at an aid station near the railway line at Zonnebeke. This corresponds to the area from where the óunknownô 

Graham was exhumed. 

 A look through the AIF nominal roll and the NAA service records shows there were only three other 

men by the name of Graham who served in the 48
th
 Battalion during the war. They were 3153 Basil James 

Graham, 1610 Robert William Graham and 4310 William Henry Graham. Of these, Basil Graham was 

wounded and evacuated on 29 September, 1917, and was in hospital by 12 October. Robert Graham was on 

secondment to the 12
th
 Training Battalion at Codford in England, while William Graham was serving with 

the 47
th
 Battalion during this period and was also in England.  

 The only possible soldier Williamson is referring to therefore could only be Frederick Graham. 

Williamson also made the comment that Graham was a very heavy man to carry and a look at his enlistment 

weight shows he was weighing in at 160 lbs. 

 The first-aid post Williamson would have come to initially was the RAP at Thames Post ï and from 

there, following the railway line, they would have dropped Graham at the relay station at Zonnebeke. 

 The soldier who the authorities in 1925 identified as either Frederick Graham or WJ Graham was 

buried in Hagle Dump Cemetery in plot 7.E.3. According to the Commonwealth War Graves Commission, 

this cemetery was later redesigned when a number of American graves were removed. All the Australian 

graves in this cemetery were then renumbered.  

 After corresponding with FFFAIF members Graeme 

Hosken, Tim Lycett and Frev Ford over this matter; in 2012 I 

wrote to the Office of Australian War Graves with the research, 

stating this to be the last resting place of Frederick Graham. They 

forwarded the case on to the Unrecovered War Casualties section 

and CWGC main office in London for verification. In 2014, news 

came through that the CWGC agreed with the research put forward 

and Plot III.F.3 in Hagle Dump Cemetery now marks the resting 

place of Frederick Graham.  

 The family of Frederick Graham were able to write the 

epitaph for his grave: 

Mourned by his Mother 

Missed by his Siblings 

Kept in Memoryôs Frame 

The Bravest and the Best. 

 

The 2014 FFFAIF battlefield tour group were able to visit 

Frederick Grahamôs new headstone and Matt Smith and Frev Ford 

kindly took some photos for me.  

 

Right: Frederick Grahamôs headstone ï no longer an unknown.  
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Private 6087 George Ellis, 20th Battalion AIF 
Geoff Lewis, Raglan. 

 

rivate 6087 George Ellis, born on 23 January, 1893, was the last of the Ellis Boys to enlist in the AIF. 

Living in North Sydney at the time, he signed up at the RAS Showground at Moore Park on 18 May, 

1916. The 6ô 3ò tall, 13 stone George had a medium complexion with grey eyes and brown hair, and 

although a carpenter by trade, gave his occupation as hospital attendant in a Mental Hospital. He was 

allocated to the 17
th
 Reinforcements of the 20

th
 Battalion [5

th
 Brigade, 2

nd
 Division].   

 

Above: Four sons of Mrs M Ellis. From left to right: George Ellis, Frank Ellis, Mrs M Ellis (mother), Alf 

Ellis, Thomas Ellis. óCowra Free Pressô, 16 January, 1918. 

 

 After completing his basic training at Liverpool, George departed Sydney aboard HMAT Ascanius 

on 25 October, 1916, disembarking at Devonport on 28 December. On New Yearôs Eve, he marched to the 

5
th
 Training Battalion at Rolleston, the camp adjacent to Larkhill on the Salisbury Plain. From the next day 

until 25 February, 1917, Georgeôs promotions took something of a roller-coaster ride, from temporary 

sergeant; back to the ranks until 6 November; then temporary corporal from 7 November to 6 May, 1918; 

and finally, back to the ranks. No reason in his record explained these movements. In any case, he and his 

mates arrived at the Australian Training Camp at Etaples on 26 January, 1917, and were taken on the 

strength of the 20
th
 Battalion on 3 March óin the fieldô. 

 The 20
th
 Battalion was raised at Liverpool in March 1915 as part of the 2

nd
 Division. A few men had 

already served in the Australian Naval and Military Expeditionary Force during the capture of German New 

Guinea at the outbreak of the war. (George was later to enlist in this unit.) The 20
th
 had first seen action at 

Gallipoli in a defensive role at Russellôs Top on 26 August, 1915, just after the offensive against the Turks, 

in which his brother, Alfred, had fought.  

 Following further training and reinforcement in Egypt, the battalion entered the Western Front in 

April, 1916. Its first battle against the óreal enemyô was at the bloodbath of Pozieres in July-August. 

Following a well-deserved rest and further training in Flanders, the 20
th
 re-entered the Somme at Flers on 14-

16 November, 1916. 

 

Bullecourt 
The German retreat to the heavily defended Hindenburg Line in the spring of 1917 was thoroughly planned 

and well-executed, designed to create confusion among their enemies as the Germans shortened their front 

line. In the area around the village of Bullecourt, they had established strong and well-prepared defences 

incorporating the so-called ófortified villagesô.  

 Already, the 20
th
 had made a name for itself in resisting a massive German counter-attack at the key 

village of Lagnicourt on 13-14 April, 1917, where the Australians were out-numbered five to one. However, 

the 20
th
 suffered 377 casualties in the heavy fighting.  

 Already, a previous attack on the Germans on 11 April had failed spectacularly (First Bullecourt). 

Fought in snow, and largely due to the failure of accurate artillery and lack of tank support, as well as a 

hastily conceived and prepared plan, the attack ended in what Bean described as a fiasco. The cost was 2 339 

4
th
 Brigade casualties and 950 BEF 72

nd
 Brigade casualties. 

P 
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 Still, the High Command was determined to take what they saw as a valuable strategic target. To all 

intents and purposes, little had changed before Second Bullecourt, which would be Georgeôs first experience 

of Western Front warfare. The front was extended to 16 miles ï the widest up to then in Europe. It now 

included Vimy in the north, which had earlier been captured by the Canadians, through Queant and further to 

the south.  

 The Australians from I Anzac Corps comprised men of the 5
th
, 6

th
 and 7

th
 Brigades. They were given 

the task of capturing the óoldô objectives of Bullecourt and Riencourt by crossing the battlefield at an angle. 

George and the 20
th
 Battalion were on the right of the Central Road which ran across the fields towards the 

two villages, and just to the north of the railway embankment which cut the field at a right angle to the 

Central Road, parallel to the German lines (OG1 and OG2).  
Below: Australians in the second line of the trenches before Riencourt (near Bullecourt), in May 1917, 

cleaning their rifles in readiness for an attack. AWM E00454.  

 The assault began with the usual artillery 

barrage at 3:45 am. Then the 17
th
 and 18

th
 Battalions 

hopped the bags a few minutes later, only to be met 

by what Bean described as torrential machine-gun 

fire. The 19
th
 and 20

th
 then moved up to the 

embankment jump-off point. What happened to 

Brigadier General Bob Smithôs 5
th
 Brigade ï the 

19
th
 and 20

th
 Battalions ï is unclear. Bean noted in 

his Official History that: The truth as far as is 

known is lost. For some reason, Smith set up his 

headquarters at Noreuil, more than a mile behind the 

jumping-off point. Thus, he had no control over the 

attack being made by his men. Denis Winter has 

described the result that: Brigade Head Quarters 

was an hour behind the action during which time the 

Australians were cut to pieces. [Winter: Deathôs Men]. 

 George had left Noreuil about midnight and the 20
th
 was ójustô on time to be in position at 3:20 am. 

(Some have even commented that they were, in fact, late to arrive). Just before false dawn, another AIF and 

BEF barrage began. Communications quickly broke down. For example, the two attacking battalions, the 

17
th
 and 18

th
, were ólostô in No-manôs land with no contact with their headquarters. The attack stalled almost 

immediately. Misleading and grossly over-optimistic reports began to filter back. Some wounded reported 

that ña good start had been madeò; flares indicated that OG1 and OG2 had been taken, when they had not. 

The 5
th
 Brigade had drifted too far to the right in the dark, smoke and mist.  

 Within two minutes, the 20
th
 was taking heavy machine-gun fire from Queant Spur at their rear. The 

planners had not believed that it was necessary to use artillery to destroy these machine-gun nests which they 

thought would only be an óinconvenienceô. At the same time, machine-gun, mortar and artillery fire met 

them from Riencourt and from the San Souci mill on the eastern edge of the village. They had become 

óskyline targetsô for the German machine gunners. 

 Chaos continued in the semi-dark. Some of the 20
th
 were, apparently, told to withdraw and began to 

do so. Several attempts were made by the few remaining officers to reorganise the remainder of the 20
th
 with 

the other battalions. Captain Herbert Edgar Parker, OC of óAô Company, 20
th
 Battalion, reported at 5:16 

am that all his men [have] disappeared at OG1é I am alone. He returned to the starting line and at 6:55 am 

reported that he only had about 50 men from all battalions of the brigade. An hour later he said that now he 

only had 12 wounded and exhausted men. The 5
th
 Brigade was totally disorganised: Smithôs Brigade failed 

as badly as any Australian formation ever failed on the Western Front! [Les Carlyon]. 

 Unusually, the unit war diaries of the 5
th
 Brigade and the 20

th
 Battalion are scant on detail about what 

occurred that night. Since the attack failed so spectacularly, it is largely ignored in later accounts. Luckily, 

we have an account from George in two letters he posted home which goes some way to filling in the gaps.  

 The first was to his mother, dated 4 May 1917 ófrom hospitalô: I have a wound in both legs and left 

arm, but they are by no means serious. My right leg is the worst, as I got hit in the right kneeé . His record 

notes that he suffered ógunshot woundsô. These were most probably from machine-gun fire. 

 The second is dated 14 May, 1917, and is written from a military hospital in Surrey. This is an 

important source as it gives an account of the battle from a participantôs point-of-view. After outlining his 

travel from France to UK and describing his treatment, he describes the horrors that he has just experienced:  
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Our brigade went in with 2 000 men and came out with only a few hundred é Keep your eyes on the 

papers and you will no doubt see something about the fighting on the Hindenburg Line at Bullecourt. 

That is where we started to make our attack on the German lines and only ourselves know what hell 

upon earth we were up against. I never want to see anything like it again. My own mates were blown 

to pieces at my side, but there was no time to stop as we had to fight our way to the German 

trenches. After capturing the first two lines and holding them for about an hour we had to retire, as 

the enemy batteries and guns were too strong for us. Not to be beaten, however, we made another 

counter-attack at 7:30 am on 3/5/17 and retook the front trenches. This time they could not get us 

out, but it was not for want of trying, as they hurled every conceivable implement of war at us é I 

left there on 3/5/17 at 2:30 pm and I see by the papers that after twelve days of fighting, the 

Germans have been driven out of Bullecourt é . 

 

In the conclusion of this extract, George is describing the successful attack at Bullecourt by the 1
st
 and 5

th
 

Divisions. By this time, the Germans no longer saw Bullecourt as an important strategic position ï neither 

did anyone else ï and withdrew. The Australians lost 2 423 men. 

 

Out of the line 
George was now swept up in the enormous numbers of casualties from Bullecourt. As his wounds were 

ótypicalô we can trace his progress through the casualty clearing system. On 2 May, when he was wounded, 

he probably lay either in a shell hole for cover or in the mud that was the field at Bullecourt. [It was fought 

on what is now a wheat or potato field.]  

 Word would have got back that he was amongst the ónon-walkingô wounded, unable to get back to 

the trenches safely. A four-man team of stretcher-bearers would have found him, given him basic first aid, 

such as staunching his bleeding and then carried him back to a Regimental Aid Post where óbetterô first aid 

was administered and a preliminary assessment made of his condition. RAPs were immediately behind the 

lines and functioned at battalion level.  

 From here, stretcher-bearers would have taken him to an Advanced Dressing Station (ADS). Since 

his wounds would have been considered more serious than he claimed in his letter, a horse-drawn ambulance 

wagon or light railway car would have taken him to a Wounded Dressing Station. As he was being carried 

over very rough or non-existent roads, as well as the ever present threat of shelling, his jolting ride would 

have been a far from comfortable. 

 Finally, when he and the other casualties were safely away from the forward areas, a motor 

ambulance, bus or lorry, travelling as part of a convoy, would transport them to a Casualty Clearing Station 

(CCS). It was here that an over-worked doctor would surgically assess his condition and decide his 

immediate future.  

 George was fortunate not to have endured a common form of ótreatmentô for leg injuries: 

amputation, and the almost immediate prospect of gangrene. It has been described that limbs were piled 

outside the treatment tents for later disposal, such was the demand made by enormous numbers of casualties. 

(Many Western Front War Cemeteries were established adjacent to a CCS.)  

 Within a fortnight, George found himself in the windy coastal town of Le Havre in a stationary 

hospital, awaiting transport across the Channel. He may have even encountered a female nurse to change his 

dressings. On 7 May the Hospital Ship Panama took him on an overnight voyage to UK. 

 George describes his experience in a letter home, somewhat underestimating the seriousness of his 

wounds:  

On arrival (in England) we had to entrain and were taken to Waterloo railway station, where were 

met by some fine motor cars and duly landed here safely after a lovely joy ride. We were given quite 

a nice reception, plenty to eat and drink and good women [nurses] to look after you ... I can tell you 

I was not sorry to get here, as we had been travelling for five days previously. The Dr. here is a nice 

old gentleman and gave us quite a searching examination. He ordered a splint for my leg which they 

have found to be sprained in some slight form. I have been ordered to bed for a week, and will be 

glad when Iôm able to get around again, as Iôve never been laid up so long in my life before. 

 

óHereô was the 2
nd

 Australian Auxiliary Hospital at Grove Road, Richmond, on the southern outskirts of 

London. This hospital specialised in leg wounds and the supply of artificial legs. On 29 May, with his 

wounds properly attended to and with every prospect of returning to the Front, he was discharged to No. 2 

Command Depot at Weymouth. These were óhalf-way housesô for men returning to the Front, but not yet fit 

enough to rejoin their units: essentially a convalescent hospital. 
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 Following a spell at Codford Convalescent Hospital for a week (22-29 July), George Ellis was well 

and truly on the mend and found himself at Perham Downs, awaiting orders to return him to his mates in 

France. In February, 1918, he was transferred from Tidworth Base and sent to the ónucleusô. The theory 

behind this was that one man in five from each battalion was left in camp for extra training (or for some, a 

rest) when the brigade when was in the line. Classes were organised for those who needed órevisionô or 

advanced training in such areas as Lewis gunnery, use of rifle grenades and bombs, gas and gas precautions, 

signals, musketry, physical training or, interestingly, the use of German machine guns. The nucleus would 

also form a core of men around whom a decimated battalion could rebuild. These indicated some of the new 

directions the war was taking. Men could be in the nucleus from 6 to 30 days, depending on rank. 

 On 2 May, a year since Bullecourt, he was back with the 20
th
, having been taken on the strength 16 

days earlier at Etaples. 

 

Morlancourt 
In the time just before George returned, the 5

th
 Brigade had been fighting as part of the Allied efforts to push 

back the 21 March Offensive launched by the Germans and reclaim the territory so expensively gained in 

earlier battles in France. Battles were fought at Arras, Morlancourt, Dernancourt and Villers-Bretonneux, 

amongst others. The Offensive had run out of steam by mid-April and attention was turned to the Lys in 

Flanders, where Tom had been wounded and Frank fought alongside his brother at Strazeele. The Battle of 

the Aisne was only two weeks away when George arrived on the Somme. 

 He found his battalion on the right flank of the line, spread along the Bray-Corbie Road, preparing 

for a combined 5
th
 and 6

th
 Brigade attack on the two villages of Ville-sur-Ancre and Morlancourt, on a 

triangular plateau between the Ancre and the Somme. The initial attack on the villages had taken place on 

28-30 March, parallel to an assault on Dernancourt, about three kilometres north. The 3
rd
 Division, under the 

command of Major General John Monash, was given the task. The 10
th
 and 11

th
 Brigades advanced with 

little artillery support. Monash ordered that more guns be brought in and the ensuing barrage forced the 

enemy to retreat a little. Several counter-attacks from both sides took place over the next two days, at heavy 

cost, but still, the Germans held their position. 

 Despite the collapse of the March Offensive, the High Command still believed that another major 

German offensive was in the offing, but it failed to develop. Indications were that the Germans had increased 

their artillery activity, aerial bombing and aggressive patrolling further south and to the east, especially in the 

area between the Ancre and the Somme. Any fighting here would involve the Australians. In particular, the 

6
th
 Brigade was to be involved in the north, at Ville.  

 At the same time, George and the 5
th
 Brigade would see action a little further south at Morlancourt. 

Preparation for both attacks began on 10 May and the 6
th
 Brigade went into action the day after George 

returned. The 21
st
 and 22

nd
 Battalions saw most of the fighting. In a combination of initiative and courage, 

they were able to take the outskirts of the village on the night of the 18/19
th
 May, but by daybreak on the 

19
th
, strong German resistance halted their progress. Shelling and machine-gun fire kept the Australians 

pinned down. 

 In the meantime, the 5
th
 Brigade began their move against Morlancourt, between the Ancre and the 

Somme Canal. British poet Robert Graves, who was a frequent óvisitorô to the village as an officer in the 

Royal Welch Fusiliers between 1915 and 1918, has left us with a description of: é a country village still 

untouched by shellfire [in 1916]. Later it got knocked to pieces: the Australians and the Germans captured it 

and re-captured it from each other several times, until only the site remained. [óGoodbye to All Thatô, 1957.] 

 The initial attack was undertaken by two companies from each of the 18
th
 and 19

th
 Battalions, with 

the 20
th
 in support. It opened with an óexcellently laidô creeping barrage by the RFA and the 1

st
 Division 

Artillery. The Australians moved quickly, at times almost out-running their own shellfire. The diary of the 

German 52
nd

 Reserve Infantry Regiment [RIR] praised their attackers: A corps dôelite é an Australian 

Division whose lads were as quick as monkeys ï advanced quite close behind the creeping barrage of their 

guns, through which they suffered considerable loss, but were established in a trice in the German trenches. 

However, they were unable to hold this advantage and as the sun rose were forced back to more defensive 

positions. 

 Here they met another problem. Chalk rock in the ground made the digging of trenches almost 

impossible. In addition, the lack of cover and the absence of a smoke screen made them targets for German 

shellfire. Consequently, they suffered many casualties. Of the front-line men who were in this initial attack, 

only 27 survived unwounded.  

 At nightfall, two companies of the 21
st
 went forward, for the fourth time in 24 hours, and dug in as 

best they could. Their preference, of course, was to try to establish posts, the system that had proved so 



DIGGER 13 Issue 52 

successful on the Lys and elsewhere. It took them all night and the next day, 20 May, to accomplish this task 

and hold the line. That night, the 20
th
 relieved their exhausted mates in the 21

st
. They were allowed the 

óluxuryô of peaceful penetration. Again, the village fell later that day, despite their taking casualties from 

ódistantô machine-gun fire. Casualties were relatively light, with a total of 316, with the 22
nd

 Battalion taking 

191 of these. The 20
th
 were taken out of the line on the 23rd, but held in reserve. 

 On 4-6 June the Germans again struck at Morlancourt and re-took the remains of the village. The 7
th
 

Brigade carried out another attack on 10 June. Launched at dusk under the cover of an artillery barrage, the 

operation was initially successful, despite the incurring of 400 Australian casualties. As Graves indicated, the 

piles of rubble that were Ville and Morlancourt were exchanged several more times until finally taken by the 

1
st
 Cambridge Regiment on 8 August as part of the successful August Offensive against the Germans 

 

Last action 
Following the battles of March and April, an atmosphere of ócalm before the stormô appears to have 

pervaded the Western Front. There was a continuation of the fighting but at a lesser intensity. The unit 

diaries record lengthy periods of óquietô as the height of summer came to Europe.  

 On 4 June, the 20
th
 relieved the 21

st
 in time to counter a series of raids from the Germans, all of 

which were ósatisfactorily dealt withô. Three days later, they participated in yet another series of raids on 

Morlancourt, but no progress was made. Four days later the brigade was relieved and moved to Rivery ï 

about three kilometres northeast of Amiens.  

 Rest was important, but for the 18
th
 and 22

nd
 Battalions that had suffered so many losses, 

reorganisation and reinforcement was necessary. Unfortunately, with the failure of the two referendums to 

decide the issue of conscription, the number of recruits to enter the AIF all but dried up, leaving many units 

down to about half regulation strength. For the 20
th
, this time meant recuperation, bathing dirty and tired 

bodies and changing underclothing for fresher óunmentionablesô. It also meant a time when a wide range of 

sporting activities and competitions were offered to the men ï including a cricket match ï to help boost 

morale. In addition, the usual fatigue parties did their work.  

 On 28 June, they were moved from Rivery and put in reserve in the Villers-Bretonneux sector at the 

trench line known as Villers Switch, just to the north of the town. The Germans fired upon their positions 

with HE (high explosive), shrapnel and gas shells. On 2 July, the 20
th
 were relieved by the partially 

reconstructed 22
nd

 Battalion and, in very hot weather, travelled to Glisy on the banks of the Somme, just to 

the north east of Villers-Bretonneux. 

 On the day of the famous victory at Le Hamel ï 4 July ï the 20
th
 practised the drill that aimed at 

their being prepared to ómove off in 15 minutesô, as well as undertaking a lengthy route march. To the men, 

it seemed that ósomething was upô. More inspections of weapons and equipment (and replacements made 

where necessary) and route marches were carried out.  

 On 6/7 July, on a hot and dusty day, the 5
th
 Brigade moved back to the front line. Corporal 1689A 

Walter Ernest Brown DCM  of the 20
th
 Battalionôs advance party, single-handedly captured twelve 

Germans in a post in No-manôs land and was awarded the VC. Two men were wounded in action during the 

relief. 

 Finding themselves in Vaire Wood, about three miles north-east of Villers-Bretonneux, they were 

welcomed by their divisional artillery opening fire on the Germans, who retaliated ólightlyô but increased 

their shelling later in the day. During the night the Australian front line was advanced 250 yards by peaceful 

penetration and a line of posts established, at a cost of one life and ten wounded ï a heavy tally for such 

work.  

 July 9
th
 saw no action from the enemy, but their 

own artillery fired a few shots, many of which dropped 

short, killing one and wounding four. This was an ongoing 

blight on the AIF artillery going back to Fromelles three 

years before. The give-and-take of artillery action continued 

with greater or lesser intensity. On 12/13 July, the 20
th
 was 

relieved by the 19
th
 Battalion, so George and his mates 

moved back to the reserve lines, where they remained for a 

week. As the week wore on the delightful summer weather 

gave way to rain and increasing enemy shelling.  
Left : A 9.2 inch howitzer battery. They were engaged in 

supporting the Australian troops operating in the 

Morlancourt sector. AWM E04386. 
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On the 19
th
, they were back in the line at Vaire Wood, completing the relief just after one oôclock in the 

morning. The gunners from each side continued their shelling of the otherôs lines, sometimes firing right 

through the night. It is probable that the planners on both sides saw this as psychological warfare, rather than 

trying to cause physical damage, as casualties remained relatively light. George remained at the front for the 

rest of the week. Still the gunners continued their work.  

 On 25 June, the first of the ódoughboysô from the American 126
th
 Battalion were attached to the 5

th
 

Brigade. The next day, the 20
th
 were back in reserve. 

 July 27 was to be Georgeôs last experience of action in the war. The German artillery, probably 

located at Warfusee, fired a few 4.2 shells at the 20
th
ôs position, with battalion headquarters as their principal 

target. Georgeôs service record notes that on this day he suffered a ógunshot woundô to the head. On that day 

one óother rankô was wounded in action, seriously enough to be taken to the Field Ambulance.  

 This was the only casualty on a day where there was no attack taking place. George suffered a hit, 

probably from red-hot, razor-sharp fragments of steel from an exploding 4.2 HE shell, the only type used by 

the Germans that day. He must have been somewhere near battalion HQ, on guard or waiting for messages or 

orders. Considering that the wound was not fatal, he would have been wearing his tin hat at the time. 

 For the second and last time, George was passed through the casualty evacuation system. From the 

6
th
 Field Ambulance, he was transported to the 5

th
 Casualty Clearing Station on 27 July. A week later, on 4 

August, he was in the general hospital at Le Havre, where he was also diagnosed as suffering from ósevereô 

influenza. The outbreak and spread of this disease at Morlancourt and along the Western Front was reported 

in the 20
th
 Battalion war diary a couple of days before he was wounded.  

 Instead of being transported back home in 1918, George was sent to the I Australian Base Hospital 

from 7 February to 4 April, 1919, to recuperate. By the end of July he was in an Australian staging camp 

awaiting a transport vessel to take him home. Finally, he returned to Australia aboard HMAT Ajana, 

disembarking at Sydney on 11 October.  

 After George left the Somme, the 1
st
 Division worked largely with the 2

nd
 and 5

th
 Divisions in field 

fighting (rather than trench warfare) to push the Germans to a line between the Somme in the north and 

Lihons by 23 August, almost in sight of Mont St Quentin and Peronne. This ended the Battle of Amiens 

which had begun four months earlier. 

 This was not to be the end of George Ellisô military career. He had obviously heard from some of his 

mates who had been members of the Australian Naval and Military Expeditionary Force [AM&MEF] and 

who had taken German New Guinea from the Germans in 1914. He was fit enough to re-enlist in the unit, 

which had been revived to oversee the change from military to civilian control in the former colony which 

had been mandated to Australia following the Treaty of Versailles.  

 Thus, on 20 October, 1920, George was taken on strength of the AN&MEF to serve for two years. 

He was initially appointed a óPolice Masterô in Rabaul on New Britain for a wage of 6/- a day. The position 

suggests that he was in charge of a group of locals to maintain law and order in the town. He was transferred 

on higher duties to the Morobe District in the New Guinea Highlands, based at Wau, on 8 November, from 

where he served out his contract. His position was the forerunner of the patrol officers who were to be so 

important in the development of PNG until independence. 

 

Endnote: This concludes Geoffôs account of the service of the four Ellis brothers. Alfred was featured in 

DIGGER 48; Thomas in DIGGER 49 and Frank in DIGGER 51. See photograph on page 31.  

 

DIGGER Quiz No. 52: óCampbellôs challengeô: Battles of July 1916 ï April 1917 
Maurice has selected some of the major Allied actions or battles of 1916-17, most of which the AIF fought 

in, on the Western Front or the Middle East. Your job is to put them in chronological order, based on their 

starting date. The first one for each year has been done for you. [Source: óDinkum Oilô, AM Taylor] 

1916 
Fromelles: ___     Flers: ___     First Battle of the Somme: 1     Mouquet Farm: ___     Romani: ___     

Pozieres: ___  

To April 1917 
Rafa: 1    Bapaume: ___     Beaumetz: ___     Capture of Baghdad: ___     Arras & Vimy Ridge: ___  

First Battle of Gaza: ___     Second Bullecourt: ___     Second Battle of Gaza: ___     First Bullecourt: ___ 

Answers are on page 61.  

  



DIGGER 15 Issue 52 

Gallipoli ï my Centennial pilgrimage 
Louise Coman, Yeppoon. 

 

he long-planned pilgrimage to Gallipoli for the Centennial began with an orange-hued sun rising over 

the Bosphorus in Istanbul as I awoke from a deep slumber. War correspondent Ashmead-Bartlettôs 

reporting of 8 May, 1915, captured Australiaôs imagination when he wrote: They waited neither for 

orders nor for the boats to reach the beach, but, springing out into the sea, they waded ashore, and forming 

some sort of rough line, rushed straight on the flashes of the enemyôs rifles.  

 I teach my students that this was where the Anzac legend was born, as enlistments and patriotism 

were ignited far from Gallipoliôs bloody shores. The young men of my family in 1915 answered the call to 

arms, but did not reach Gallipoli. Their war was to be fought on the Western Front and in the Middle East. 

My journey was to honour the fallen of past and present conflicts and to find family namesakes, relatives or 

not, who had battled for Australiaôs first war as a unified nation. 

 I travelled with historian Lieutenant Colonel 

Gary McKay (Ret.) from Mat McLachlan Battlefield 

Tours (MMBT) and local guide Aydin Aygun. Our 

meeting the first evening in the Hiltonôs Conference 

Room was a reunion of families, friends and fallen, as we 

all told our unique stories of why we were here ï to 

honour, embrace and continue the traditions of courage, 

camaraderie and perseverance.  

Left: Louiseôs tour group visits the remains of trenches. 

 

The most significant place for me was Lone Pine where 2 

000 casualties occurred over a period of four days. A 

distant relative is commemorated on a memorial panel 

and his Red Cross record describes an horrific end at Hill 

60: The losses were heavy, and many of the bodies mutilated, burnt and charred beyond recognition. A 

tragic story but one of so many told by our fellow pilgrims.  

Right: Louise finds the name of Pte 220 Charles Gavin, 

17
th
 Bn, on the Lone Pine Memorial to the Missing. 

  

A member of our tour group had her grandfatherôs photo, 

and a tour director from another group met her at his grave 

with his medal ï Gallipoli was the place this year where the 

ghosts of the past brought the present together. The number 

of children and grandchildren on the tour was 

overwhelming and I think we, as a nation, forget that so 

many soldiers, sailors and airmen were repatriated yet their 

personal wars would never be over. 

 We visited Anzac Cove prior to the Ceremony, to 

which I unfortunately did not receive a ballot ticket. May I 

add, there many direct descendants on our tour with no ballot and who were ónot happy, Janô to find so many 

non-related guests with ballot tickets! But we, óthe green lanyardsô (non-ballot participants) had forged a 

bond of solidarity.  

 The stage and red seating were in place [left] so we 

wandered past the sound check towards the beach. As we 

looked back from the stage to The Sphinx and sheer cliffs we 

wondered what óour boysô thought as they hit the icy waters 

and faced sniper fire and, later, shellfire. Yes, we were now 

honorary owners of their legacy.  

 The moment I stepped onto the sands of Anzac Cove, 

a chill and silence came over our group. Words werenôt 

required. The intensity of emotions was palpable in this eerie 

yet peaceful time-continuum. The past and the present merged 

and only the sound of the lapping waves could be heard as we 

walked silently and slowly towards Beach Cemetery. Did I 

T 
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expect to be moved by the experience? Yes. Did I envisage that 

the ghosts would be so real and so vivid? Never. I still feel the 

goose bumps as I reflect and relive the surreal experience of 

Gallipoli.  

Right: Louise on North Beach.  

  

The MMBT D103 coach group amalgamated as a team to enjoy 

our Anzac Dawn Service at Fort Dardanos with Mat McLachlan, 

Ray Martin and Eric Bogle, and an endless supply of hot soup, 

beverages and Anzac biscuits to face the chilly dawn. The 

reverence here reflected the emotional journey we had made. 

Five hundred strong, we looked out over The Dardanelles and 

contemplated the fate of those who were to pay the ultimate sacrifice on the bloody shores of Anzac Cove. 

Our Anzac Service was followed by the televised event across the water. This was a moment in history that I 

will always remember.  

 Shrapnel Gully, Quinnôs Post and Monash Valley ï 

iconic names for Australians ï revealed the harsh terrain and 

conditions that were endured by our Anzacs in their eight 

month campaign. The Commonwealth War Graves 

Commission and the Turkish people have embraced our fallen, 

and the peaceful and serene settings such as Beach Cemetery 

[left] reflect the words of Ataturk etched overlooking the 

Dardanelles. Chunuk Bair, New Zealandôs War Memorial and 

Cemetery was magnificent as the armyôs piper and bugler 

practised for Anzac Day. Choking back tears became an 

everyday occurrence that no-one was embarrassed about, but 

embraced.  
 It was a privilege and an honour to be a part of the 

MMBT Gallipoli Centennial Tour and I look forward to attending the Fromelles and Pozieres Centennial in 

2016 with MMBT. My great uncle James Gavin [L/Cpl 482, 31
st
 Bn] was killed at Fromelles and three 

generations will be visiting Jim at Rue-Petillon Military War Cemetery.  

 Some people ask why I travelled to Gallipoli for the Centennial. My response is that as you wait for 

the clock to tick onto 4:28 am, you are catapulted back to 1915 and the anticipation, fear and sense of 

mortality our Anzacs must have felt. I embraced the feeling of the cold, the stillness and the silence é and 

hope for peace in a world still consumed by wars. 

 

Endnote: Additional photos taken by Louise have been placed on our Facebook Group page. 

_______________________________________________ 

óANZAC & Its Enemiesô by member Mervyn Bendle released 
Forged 100 years ago in the bloody cauldron of the Great War, the Anzac 

Legend represents the values of courage, initiative, egalitarianism, mateship, 

loyalty and sacrifice. The Australian people embraced it as the core of the 

national identity of their new country. However, it has been under attack ever 

since by left-wing activists determined to destroy it. 

The assault was begun by Communists in the post-WWI era and intensified 

during the ñcultural revolutionò of the Sixties. Today, the anti-Anzacs include 

former PM Paul Keating, academics at the ANU and the Australian Defence 

Force Academy, and many within the arts and the ABC. They argue the Anzacs 

died in vain in an imperialist war and the legend is a reactionary fable that 

justifies militarism, sexism and ethnic oppression. They label it a myth invoked 

to justify current military actions in the Middle East and Afghanistan. 

In óAnzac & Its Enemiesô, Mervyn Bendle explores the origins of the legend and 

dissects the long campaign against it by leftist politicians, intellectuals, and 

sections of the media, and argues why their case is seriously flawed. 

ISBN: 9780980677898 (hardback) RRP $44.95  


